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Introduction

This is the Firearms Task Force’s Initial Report,
focusing on P.L. 2009, <. 104, sometimes referred to as the
“one handgun per month® law or the “one hand W on
August 6, 2009, Governor Corzine signed this 1legislation,
which will become effective on January 1, 2010. In enacting

thig law, New Jersey Jjoined three other states, California,

Maryland, and Virginia, which limit individuals to purchasing
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one handgun within a 30-day period, subject to certain
exceptions.’

On June 25, 2009, the day this measure passed the
Legislature, Governor Corzine issued Executive Order No. 145,
which created this Task Force in order to examine certain
issues regarding New Jersey’s firearms laws and aspects of the
one handgun legislation. The Executive Order requires that
this Initial Report “focus on the anticipated passage of the
‘one-handgun-per-month’ legislation . . . including its
impact on firearms collectors and competitive and recreational
firearms users.” It further provides that the Initial Report
include recommendations for any appropriate legislative
changes to ensure that lawful firearms collectors and
competitive and recreational firearms users are not adversely
affected by the Jlegislation. The Executive Order directed
that the Initial Report be submitted within 90 days of the
Task Force’'s first meeting, so as to allow any recommended
iegislative modifications to be effectuated during
legislative session and prior to the law's effective date.

The Task Force began its work on July 27, 2009. Its

membership includes two legislators who sponsored the one

handgun per month legislation, Senator Sandra B. Cunningham,

lgouth Carolina enacted a one handgun law in 1975 but
repealed it in 2004.
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the first prime Senate sponsor and Assemblyman Gordon M.
Johnson, Assembly co-sponsor, as well as Senator Fred
H. Madden, Jr., Assemblyman John J. Burzichelli, Lieutenant
Colonel Christopher Andreychak of the New Jersey State
Police, Assistant Attorney General Ronald Susswein of the
Attorney General’'s Office, Robert Bernardi, Burlington County
Prosecutor for the New Jersey County Prosecutors’ Association;
Robert Nixon representing the interests of gun owners groups;
and Bryan Miller representing gun safety interests.

The Task Force held five meetings to consider the issues
it was to study for its Initial Report. Tts work
included reviewing the law’s provisions and its legislative
history, considering the process to obtain a handgun in New
Jersey through a detailed presentation by experts from the New
Jersey State Police, and reviewing similar laws of other
states. Additionally, the Task Force held an all-day public
hearing on September 24, 2009, during which it heard testimony
from 24 witnesses.

In this Initial Report, the Task Force respectfully
recommends certain adjustments to the one handgun per month
law that it believes are consistent with the law’s intent and
should not compromise its operation or impact. As further

detailed in this Initial Report, it recommends an amendment to
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clarify the intent of the law with regard to multiple handgun
transfers involving retail dealers.

The Task Force further recommends certain limited
exemptions to the law’s one handgun limitation. The Task
Force suggests that the one handgun limitation should not
apply in the limited circumstances where a handgun 1is
exchanged for one that was purchased and returned to a retail
dealer, within a 30-day period. The Task Force also
recommends that certain transaction-specific exemptions be
authorized where special circumstances present a legitimate
need to purchase more than one handgun in a 30-day period.
These transaction-specific exemptions would include situations
in which a person inherits multiple handguns and wishes to
sell them to a legitimate purchaser in a single transaction;
transfers involving a handgun collector seeking to enhance his
or her collection where there 1is a legitimate need or
justification for purchasing more than one handgun within 30
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otherwise is not practical or feasible to purchase them
separately; and circumstances where a competitive shooter has
a specific need to acquire multiple competition firearms
within a short time period. Notably, the exemption provisions
_recommended are of types included in some other states’ omne

handgun per month laws. In order to deter potential straw
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purchasers who may fraudulently attempt to qualify for a
transaction-specific exemption, the Task Force also recommends
that the criminal laws regarding violations of the firearm
purchase requirements be amended to include a new offense for
those who fraudulently seek to qualify for an exemption to the
one handgun law by deliberately making materially false
statements in the application process.

These proposed modifications are intended to be initial
recommendations, to address the issues that Executive OQOrder
No. 145 directs be considered in the Initial Report, so ﬁhat
adjustments to the law can be made by January 2010. Pursuant
to the Executive Order, the Task Force will continue to study
igsues regarding New Jersey’s firearms laws as required by the
Executive Order. Specifically, the Executive Order states
that the Task Force’s review shall include the firearms’
permitting processes; the effectiveness of any statutory
limitations on the sale and transfer of firearms; programmatic
initiatives to «curb the illegal possession, use, and
trafficking of firearms; and new criminal penalties for the
illegal transfer of guns. Additionally, the Order requires
that the Task Force consider the impact of the one handgun law
after it becomes effective.

Thus, the Task Force also anticipates that it will

continue to review issues regarding this law as well as any
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modifications to it that may be adopted. The Committee will
continue to discuss the issues the law poses for handgun
collectors, to determine whether further recommendations on
this i1ssue are in order. Further, Task Force member Robert
Nixon has expressed the view that the Task Force should work
to develop a definition of the term “collector” that could be
of assistance in implementing a collector exception. The
Executive Order requires the Task Force to file its final
report within eighteen months of the issuance of this Initial

Report.

Summary of the Task Force’s Review and Findings

The One Handgun per Month Law and New Jersey’s Handgun
Regulation System

A review of the issues referred to the Task Force must
start with the legislative history and the specific provisions
of the one handgun law. The legislative history, including
the testimony and submissions to the legislative committees
that considered the bill, reveals that the law primarily was
intended to deter ‘“straw purchases” of multiple handguns,
that is, purchases of handguns by persons for the purpose of
selling or transferring the handguns to others who would not
lawfully be able to obtain them because of a prior criminal

record or other disqualifying circumstances. For example,
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in testimony during the committee process, the bill was
described as a measure to provide a barrier to illegal gun
trafficking. By limiting the number of handguns that may be
purchased at one time, the sponsors intended to make straw
purchasing a less lucrative and less efficient venture, and
therefore a less attractive one to those who might
contemplate it. To support the proposition that multiple
handgun purchases should be viewed differently than single
sales, proponents of the legislation noted that the federal
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives has
required federally licensed firearms dealers to report
within five days all sales of more than one handgun to a
single purchaser.

The overarching concern of the proponents of the
legislation was on violent crimes committed with 1llegally
obtained handguns. The bill was introduced after a City of
Jersey City ordinance imposing a one handgun per month

Te = de e -

limitation was struck down in court, a matter that currently
remains under review 1in the court system. During the
legislative process, it was noted that Jersey City, Camden,
Newark, Paterson, and Atlantic City passed resolutions in

support of the bill or otherwise supported its passage as an

important public safety measure.
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Accordingly, the legislation that resulted limits the
holder of a handgun purchaser permit to buying one handgun
in a 30-day period. The law also prohibits licensed retail
firearms dealers from knowingly delivering more than one
handgun to a purchaser within the 30-day time frame. A
buyer or seller who violates the provisions of the law would
commit a fourth-degree cffense.

The one handgun law exempts law enforcement agencies
and officers purchasing handguns for use in the actual
performance of law enforcement duties. The law also
provides an exemption for “collectors of curios or relics,
who have in their possession a valid Collector of Curios and
Relics License issued by the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco,
Firearms and Explosives,” a provision that the Task Force
recommends be modified as further described in the
“Recommendations” section below. Additionally, the law
expressly provides that the limitation would not apply to
transfers of handguns between licensed ;etail dealers,
although the law does not otherwise regulate conduct between
dealers or manufacturers, and other sections of the firearms

law speak to these issues.’

2The one handgun legislation introduced in the 2006-2007
legislative session originally exempted only law
enforcement agencies and officers but did not contain the
collector or retail exception language. Review of the
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New Jersey’s Firearms Laws

The one handgun law would amend the current legal and
requlatory scheme for purchasing a handgun in New Jersey.
At one of the first Task Force meetings, several members of
the Firearms Unit of the New Jersey State Police presented
the Task Force with a comprehensive briefing on the
requirements for obtaining a handgun in New Jersey,
including legal and regulatory requirements, as well as
federal reguirements.

A general outline of the New Jersey handgun purchase
requirements follows. In New Jersey, a handgun cannot be
purchased or otherwise transferred unless the purchaser has
a permit to purchase a handgun or 1is a licensed firearms
dealer. A permit is required for each handgun transfer; an
applicant, however, can apply for more than one pefmit in a
single application. A permit will be issued to a gqualified
person of good character, who is of good repute in the

community in which he or she 1i

ves, and who is not su
to any statutory disgualification, such as a criminal
record. An application for a permit to purchase a handgun

is submitted to the Chief of Police of the applicant’s

municipality, except that in cases in which the municipality

legislative history reveals that the retail and collectors
language was added in an effort to respond to retail
dealers’ and collectors’ concerns.
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of residence does not have a full-time police force, or the
applicant is not a state resident, the application is
submitted to the New Jersey State Police.

The permit application form is prescribed by the
Superintendent of State Police, who has regulatory authority
over the permit application and the permitting process. The
applicant must include as references two reputable citizens
personally acguainted with the applicant. The applicant
also must consent to a mental health records search. First-
time applicants must be fingerprinted, so that a criminal
background check can be conducted.

Once the application process is completed, a background
investigation is undertaken by the law enforcement agency
reviewing the application. This includes verifying that the
application is complete and accurate, conducting a check
with the County Adjustor’s Office for any record of mental
health confinement, checking the Domestic Violence Registry
and the Department of Homeland Security in the case of a
non-citizen, and contacting the references submitted on the
application.

Applicants who are approved are issued a permit or
permits to purchase a handgun. The permits are valid for a
90-day period, which may be exﬁended for an additional 90-

day period, for a potential total of 180 days. To purchase

10
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or otherwise acquire a handgun, the purchaser must present
the permit to the seller, who completes it. A copy of the
completed form, which includes information about the handgun
sold, such as its serial number, must be submitted to the
atate DPolice as well as to the municipal police department
where the purchaser resides. A copy is retained by the
seller and a copy is returned to the purchaser.

The Division of State Police reported to the Task Force
that in 2008 there were 33,647 handgun purchase permits isgued
in New Jersey and 25,753 permits executed. A total of 2,313
transactions involved multiple handgun purchases.

Other States’ “One Handgun” Laws

As noted, three other states have laws prohibiting
individuals from purchasing wmore than one handgun in a 30-day
period. Maryland’s law provides that a person shall not
obtain more than one “regulated firearm,” a term that includes
handguns, within a 30-day period. The law includes certain
categorical exemptions, including purchases by d
enforcement, and correctional agencies; exchanges and
replacements of handguns purchased within 30 days; and
replacements of lost handguns. It also allows transaction-
specific exceptions that may be granted, upon application, by

the Secretary of the Maryland State Police. To be exempted

from the 30-day requirement, the purchase must meet certain

11
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requifements, including that the purchase is of a collector
series, a private collection, or is from an estate sale. The
law also provides that where an exemption has been granted,
the purchaser may be prohibited from purchasing a regulated
firearm during the following 30-day period.

Virginia’s one handgun law has been amended a number of
times and currently includes various exemptions from the one
handgun limitation, including categorical exemptions as well
as transaction-specific exemptions that are granted upon
approval. The categorical exemptions include law enforcement
agencies, antique weapons, and, through an amendment to the
law, an exemption for persons authorized to carry a concealed
firearm. In this regard, it should be noted that Virginia's
firearm “carry” law is generally understood to be much broader
than New Jersey’s. Virginia’s law also includes transaction-
specific exemptions for purchases of a collector series, a
collection, purchases from lestate sales, and “gimilar
purposes.”

California’s one handgun law likewise prohibits the

purchase of more than one pistol, revolver, or other firearm

capable of being concealed, within a 30-day period. It
includes some categorical exemptions, including a law
enforcement exemption. It does not appear to allow
transaction-specific exemptions. Similar to New Jersey’s one

12
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handgun 1law, though, California does exclude federally
licensed collectors from its 30-day time limitation.

Public Hearing Testimony

In accordance with the Executive Order’s provisions, the
Tagsk Force held a public hearing on September 24, 2009 at the
State House Annex in Trenton. The Task Force invited a number
of interested parties, sﬁggested by members, to present
testimony, and also opened the hearing to the public, who were
invited to provide testimony. At the hearing, the Task Force
heard the testimony of 24 witnesses, and received a written
submission from at least one person who did not testify.

Individuals who provided testimony incliuded:
representatives from various firearm owners’ organizations,
such as the New Jersey Rifle and Pistol Clubs; retail dealers
and associations of dealers, -including the New Jersey
Association of Firearms Retailers and the New Jersey Retail
Dealers Association; professional and recreational competitive
shooters and representatives of associations comprised of
members of these groups, including thé National Shooting

PR, PR T et
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Sports Foundation and th
collectors and their associations; and other interested
organizations, such as the National Rifle Association, as
well as the owner of a firearms training school who testified
regarding the need to purchase training weapons. A complete
transcription of the public hearing is appended to this

report.

13
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The testimony presented covered a range of issues. It
included persons who opposed all aspects of the law, and those
who argued that no law abiding citizen should be subject to
the one handgun limitatiomn, notwithstanding that only persons
without a criminal record are qualified for gun ownership
under existing law. Other witnesses testified more
specifically regarding changes they believed should be made to
the one handgun law. With regard to this latter category,
which ies the focus of this report, the main themes that
emerged from the testimony are summarized below.

A number of retail dealers testified about their concern
that the one handgun limitation could be read to severely
restrict their purchase of handguns for resale. The witnesses
explained that, while the Ilaw appeared only to exempt
purchases by retailer dealers from other retail dealers, the
vast bulk of a retail store’s inventory is obtained by
multiple purchases from registered manufacturers and
wholesalers, as well as estates, sales of collections by
private individuals, and firearms accepted for consignment
gale.

Several witnesses faised issues regarding the transfer of
inherited firearms. They asserted that in its present form
the law would not allow persons who inherit multiple handguns
to sell the handguns in a timely and efficient manner. For
example, a person could inherit his or her spouse’s estate,
which includes handguns they have no interest in retaining,

and currently may sell them as a set to a gqualified person.

14
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The law would 1limit such transactions to one handgun per 30
days.

Various individuals testified regarding a number of
activities involving multiple handgun purchases that could be
categorized as firearms collecting activities. These included
a person who testified that he does not necessarily consider
himself a collector, but has a large number of handguns not of
any specific type or variety. Other testimony described more
specific collecting activities, such as those involving
handguns with historical significance, collectable handguns
that are sold in a series, in limited editions, in matched
sets, or in which the grouping of the handguns enhances their
value and desirability to other collectors. Others testified
regarding their interest in continuing to buy lots comprised
of multiple handguns, as this at times is the best way to find
a specific handgun they are interested in purchasing.

There was testimony presented that the exemption in the
one handgun law that, like California‘'s law, refers to the
federal firearm curio and relic collectors’ license, 1is not
particularly useful to a private citizen collector in New
Jersey, Since a person operating under this license would need
a State retail dealer license as well.

The Task Force also heard from a number of competitive
shooters who participated in different types of events and at
various 1levels of competition, including some highly-
successful professional and Olympic-level competitors. These

witnesses testified, among other things, that competitors

15
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often appear in several events that wmay require different
handguns, and that some events require the use of two
handguns. Moreover, several individuals advised that
competitors typically have one or two “back up” firearms that
are get up in the same manner as their primary firearm for an
event, so that they have an identical replacement ready if
their primary firearm walfunctions at or near to a
competition. Furthermore, these individuals indicated that
firearms used for competitions fire thousands of zrounds;
therefore, they are subject to frequent repairs and also

require replacement more frequently than other handguns.

Recommendations

Based on the Task Force's analysis and consideration of
the information it gathered, it makes several recommendations
for amendments to the one handgun law. In crafting these
recommendations, the Task Force was guided both by the
Executive Order’s charge that it consider the law's impact on
collectors, competitors, and recreational users, and also by
the law’s underlying intent. Moreover, in crafting
recommendations regarding exemptions, the Task Force
endeavored to balance the legitimate needs of persons engaged
in recreational and other pursuits involving handguns against
the fact that exemptions must be clearly defined if they are

to be understood by the public and correctly applied. Of

16
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course, broadly authorizing exemptions in all cases where a
person would prefer to purchase more than one handgun at a
time would effectively nullify the law, and this is not the
Tagk Force’s intent. Finally, these recommendations suggest

potential modifications to the one handgun law only, and are
not in any way intended to modify any other provisions of the

firearms laws.

Recommendation 1: The Task Force recommends a clarifying

amendment to the one handgun law to ensure that its
Jimitations on the transfer of handguns are not interpreted to
apply to otherwise lawful transactions between licensed retail
dealers, registered wholesale dealers, and registered
manufacturers, or to transfers of handguns from a private
individual to a licensed retail dealer, a registered wholesale
dealer, or a registered manufacturer. Such an amendment would
be consistent with the intent of the one handgun law and could
prevent unintended consequences.

The Task Force had become aware of this issue prior to
the public hearing, as a result 6f press accounts that
appeared after the bill passed the Legislature, and also
because the issue was raised by severél Task Force members.
As a result, handgun dealers were specifically invited to
speak at the public hearing. The one handgun law includes a

retail dealer exemption, specifically exempting multiple sales

17
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between retail dealers. Because the term “retail dealer” has
a statutory definition provided in another section of the
firearm laws, N.J.S.A. 2C:39-1, as do the terms “wholesale
dealer” and “manufacturer,”.also defined in the same section,
a concern arose regarding the effect of the exemption. A
similar concern also has been raised that dealers and
manufacturers may be limited by the one handgun law from in
purchasing more than one handgun from a private citizen within
a 30-day period, since the law does not expressly exempt or
preclude these sales.

The Task Force is confident any such construction of the
one handgun law would not be consistent with its legislative
intent, and therefore recommends that clarifying language be
added to the law as a technical amendment to avoid unintended
results. It recommends that language be added to the one
handgun law to state expressly that the one handgun 1limit
does not apply to otherwise lawful transfers between licensed

L S - g, Y

retail dealers, registered wholesale
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manufacturers, or to sales or transfers foxr value to such

dealers or manufacturers from private individuals.
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Recommendation 2: The one handgun limitation should not

apply to a transaction where a person purchases a handgun from
a dealer and returns it to the dealer in an exchange for
another handgun, all within a 30-day period. In additiom to
any other reporting required by law, it is recommended that
dealers be subject to a reporting requirement for such return
and exchange transactions, so that a nearly contemporaneous
record of the transaction is mader to help avoid potential
confusion regarding the propriety of the exchange transaction.

Both from the public hearing testimony and from research
regarding other states’ laws, the Task Force believes that
some exemption from the one handgun limitation would be
appropriate in situations where a person purchases a handgun
from a retail dealer but returns it to the dealer within 30
days of the purchase in exchange for another handgun. Since
the net result of such a transaction 1is that the person
acquires only one handgun in the 30-day time period, the Task
Force does not believe it would contravene the spiri
law for the exchange to take place without regard to the one
handgun limitation, and recommend that this exemption be added
to the law. This exemption, like all of the recommendations
in this Initial Report, is made in regard to the one handgun
law, and is not intended to impact  other requirements of the

firearms laws, including but not 1limited to the reguirement

19
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that a permit be obtained prior to acquiring a handgun. Both
the Maryland and California laws provide for similar
exemptions.

Further, in cases where a purchase, a return, and an
exchange of the handgun take place within a 30-day period, it
is recommended that a report be filed by the dealer to the
State Police within five days so that the record is clear that
the transaction was not in vioclation of the one handgun
limitation.

Recommendation 3: The Superintendent of State Police

should be authorized to issue transaction-specific exemptions
from the one handgun limitation to allow an applicant to
purchase more than one handgun within a 30-day period, if the
applicant demonstrates to the Superinténdent that one of the
following special circumstances applies to the transaction:

(a) Inherited Handguns: that the application is one
regarding a purchase of multiple handguns from a person who
obtained the handguns tﬁrougu inherit

(b) Special Cocllections: that the applicant is a
collector of handguns and has a legitimate need or
justification to purchase or otherwise receive multiple
handguns in the same transaction or within 30 days in

furtherance of his or her collecting activities. Examples of

“legitimate need or justification” shall include but not be

20
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limited to situations in which there is a reasonable
likelihood that the additional handguns or handguns sought to
be purchased would not be readily available after éxpiration
of the 30-day period; that it would be infeasible or
impractical to purchase them separately; or that prohibiting
the purchase of more than one handgun within a 30-day period
would have a materially adverse impact on the collector’s
ability to enhance his or her collection.

(c) Recognized Competition: that the applicant
participates in recognized handgun shooting competitions and
has a legitimate need or Jjustification to purchase or
otherwise receive multiple handguns in a single transaction or
within 30 days, and the legitimate need is related to his or
her competitive shooting activities, including training for
recognized competitions.

The application for an exemption to authorize the
purchase of more than one handgun in a 30-day period should be

= -

required to be certified by the form to be

prescribed by the Superintendent of State Police, and in which
the applicant shall identify the particular handguns to be
purchased. The Superintendent should promulgate rules and
regqulations regarding the exemption application process. The

Task Force recommends that legislative authorization be given

for these regulations to be effective immediately upon filing

21
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with the Office of Administrative Law for a short period of
time to allow the exemption application process to become
operational without the time limits that otherwise would be
required for the regulation adoption process.

| The Superintendent should have the discretion to consider
the veracity, accuracy, and completeness of the information
provided in determining whether an application meets the
criteria set forth above, provided, however, that the special
collections exception should not be construed to authorize or
require the Superintendent to congider the merit or wvalidity
of an applicant’s collecting activities.

This exception should not be construed and is not
intended to require the Superintendent to grant an exemption
where he finds a reasonable likelihood that the public safety
would be endangered by granting the exemption, including but
not limited to instances where the transaction may be a straw
purchase.

This exceptiocn alsoc shou
intended to authorize multiple handgun purchases where the
only justification put forward by the applicant is that the
gseller offers a discount for the purchase of more than one
handgun.

The denial of an application to purchase more than one

handgun within a 30-day period should be reviewable by the

22
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Superior Court and such an application should be heard within
30 days of its filing. The Superior Court may reverse the
denial if it finds that the denial was an abuse of discretion,
arbitrary or capricious, or a misapplication of the
requirements for the exemption as a matter of law.

The Task Force also recommends that, like the Maryland
and Virginia statutes, a transaction-based special need
exemption be added where certain special circumstances are
present.

Following the lead of Maryland and Virginia, the Task
Force recommends a transaction-specific exemption for these
circumstances. This is proposed because the circumstances
described above depend on the transaction at issue, not
necessarily on the person seeking to make the multiple handgun
purchase. Furthermore, creating Dblanket exemptions for
certain persons based on their current actiﬁities or
affiliations would create legal, administrative, and
enforcement issues.

In both Maryland and Virginia, a person seeking an
exemption in order to acquire multiple handguns within a 30-
day period must apply to the Superintendent of State Police,
who would authorize the purchase only after reviewing whether

the authorization sought fits within the parameters of the

exemption. Since the Division of State Police is the

23
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regulatory agency with jurisdiction regarding firearms, it is
recommended that persons seeking a special exemption to the
one handgun limit submit an application to purchase more than
one handgun in a 30-day period to the Superintendent, which
may be done in conjunction with an application for a permit.
Having a single entity reviewing requests for exemptions will
ensure consistent application and that the new process can be
closely monitored and evaluated. Requiring approval by the
Superintendent also will remove any concern about whether a
specific transaction is in fact qualified for the exemption,
which inures to the benefit of all parties to the
transaction.

The Task Force also recommends that the applicant be
required to certify as to the reason the exemption from the
one handgun limitation is sought, including details regarding
the firearms intended for purchase, and submit any pertinent

documentation regarding the matter, guidance for which could

be provided through regulation. For eXx in an
inheritance situation, a death certificate and a will may be
appropriate to include in support of the application. If the
exemption is approved, it could be issued as a supplement to
the permit. As with the purchase permit, a copy of the

multiple purchase authorization could be returned to the State

Police after the purchase is completed.
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The Task Force intends this application process to be an
efficient one and not one that is successful only in the most
extraordinary cases. Further, in order that there may be
speedy redress where an applicant feels that an exemption was
denied unjustifiably, the Task Force recommends that the
denial be reviewable by the Superior Court and that such a
matter should be heard within 30 days.

Inhefited Handguns

The transfer of inherited firearms presents a special
circumstance since individuals who inherit handguns did not
necessarily seek to obtain them, may or may not want them,
and may or may not be permitted by law to possess them. The
New Jersey firearms laws currently authorize qualified persons
who inherit a firearm to take possession of the firearm
without first obtaining a permit and to retain the firearm
without a permit for up to 180 days. However, if the
beneficiary wishes to divest himself or herself of inherited

handguns, the one handgun law would 1i

handgun per 30-day period unless they sold to a dealer.?

3With regard to a sale to a dealer of multiple inherited
handguns, Recommendation One, if adopted, would clarify
that a transfer of multiple handguns from a private seller
to a dealer is permissible.
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The Task Force finds that it is appropriate and may be
desirable for persons who inherit multiple handguns they did
not buy and do not wish to keep to be authorized to sell the
handguns expeditiously in a single transaction that otherwise
complies with the firearms laws. Thus, it recommends that a
transaction-specific exemption be added to the one handgun law
allow multiple transfers of inherited handguns, so long as the
transfer takes place within a reasonable period from the time
the handguns were inherited.

Special Collections

As noted above, at the public hearing, several handgun
collectors testified that the one handgun limitation would
prevent them from collecting certain types of handguns that
may be offered for sale together, where making similar
purchases separately would not be feasible. Examples include
but are not limited to handguns in a numbered series, handguns
that are related to each other in some way such that the value

of each

f them would be impacted by the fact that they are
being offered together, such as a set of historically
significant pistols, or sales of special collections of a
certain type of handgun.

The Task Force recommends that a special exemption be
provided for in cases where handgun collectors demonstrate a

legitimate need or justification to  purchase multiple
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handguns within the 30-day time frame to further their
collecting activities. Further, to avoid any potential
concern that the reviewer might apply his own judgment
regarding the merit or validity of a gun
collector’s collecting activities, the recommendation
specifically prohibits such subjective value judgments while
expressly allowing the reviewer discretion to consider issues
necessary to an evaluation of the application, such as the
veracity, accuracy, and completeness of the application.
Finally, this exception is not intended and should not be
construed to allow the authorization of multiple sales where
the Jjustification put forward by the applicant for the
multiple purchase is that the seller is offering a discount
for the purchases of more than a single handgun. By creating
these special circumstance exceptions, the Task Force does not
intend to encourage dealers to offer multiple-purchase
discounts or to incentivize the buying of handguns in bulk by

encouraging new

UL D IR R —puere ey I S
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Recognized Competition
Based on the detailed testimony a number of witnesses
gave at the hearing, the Task Force finds that handgun
competitors may have different needs than non-competing
recreational shooters. Moreover, needs may vary considerably

among competitors, based on the type of competition or
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competitions in which they are engaged and the frequency of
their participation. The Task Force therefore recommends that
where a competitor requires multiple handguns related to
his or her competition activities, and would not be able to
purchase them separately, a transaction-specific exemption may

be sought.

Recommendation 4: The criminal laws regarding violations

of the firearm purchase requirements should be amended to

include a new offense for those who fraudulently attempt to

PR

qualify for an exemption to the one handgun law, by
intentionally making materially false statements in the
application process or otherwise.

It is recommended that the special exemptions described
in the earlier recommendations be accompanied by a new
criminal provision for intentionally making false material
statements in the exemption process or for other deliberate
fraudulent conduct in the exemption process. The aim here is
to provide a specific deterrent
who  would intentionally  attempt to misuse legitimate
exemptions. While existing criminal laws, such as false
swearing as well as the criminal penalty provided in the ome
handgun law itself, also may reach this conduct, the Task

Force believes that a separate criminal provision with strong

penalties also is appropriate for persons who attempted to
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obtain multiple handguns through fraud on the regulatory

system.
Conclusion
In sum, the Task Force believes that these initial
recommendations will provide a means by which the one
handgun law can be reasonably modified without doing damage
to its original purpose: to deter straw purchases and other
illegal handgun trafficking, and ultimately to protect the

public safety.
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CHAPTER 1064

AN ACT concerning handgun sales and purchases and amending N.J.S.2C:58-2 and
N.LS.2C:58-3.

BE IT ENACTED by the Senate and General Assembly of the State of New Jersey:
1. N.1.S.2C:58-2 is amended to read as follows:

Retailing of firearms; licensing of dealers and their employees.

2C:58-2. a. Licensing of retail dealers and their employees. No retail dealer of firearms
nor any employee of a retail dealer shall sell or expose for sale, or possess with the intent of
Selling, any firearm unless licensed to do so as hereinafter provided. The superintendent
shall prescribe standards and gualifications for retail dealers of firearms and their employees
for the protection of the public safety, health and welfare.

Applications shall be made in the form prescribed by the superintendent, accompanied by
a fee of $50 payable to the superintendent, and shall be made to a judge of the Superior Court
in the county where the applicant maintains his place of business. The judge shall grant a
license to an applicant if he finds that the applicant meets the standards and qualifications
established by the superintendent and that the applicant can be permitted to engage in
business as a retail dealer of firearms or employee thereof without any danger to the public
safety, health and welfare. Each license shall be valid for a period of three years from the
date of issnance, and shall authorize the holder to sell firearms at retail in a specified
municipality.

In addition, every retail dealer shall pay a fee of $5 for each employee actively engaged in
the sale or purchase of firearms. The superintendent shall issue a license for each employee
for whom said fee has been paid, which license shall be valid for so long as the employee
remains in the employ of said retail deales.

No license shall be granted to any retail dealer under the age of 21 years or to any
employee of a retail dealer under the age of 18 or to any person who could not gualify to
obtain a permit to purchase a handgun or a firearms purchaser identification card, or to any
corporation, partnership or other business organization in which the actual or equitable
controlling interest is held or possessed by such an ineligible person.

Al licenses shall be granted subject to the following conditions, for breach of any of
which the license shall be subject to revocation on the application of any law enforcement

officer and after notice and hearing by the issuing couri:

{1} The business shall be carried on only in the building or buildmgs deszgna,ed in the

license, provided that repairs may be made by the dealer or his employees outside of such
premises.

(2) The license or a copy certified by the issuing authority shall be displayed at all times
in a conspicuous place on the business premises where it can be easily read.

(3) No firearm or imitation thereof shall be placed in any window or in any other part of
the premises where it can be readily seen from the outside.

(4) No rifle or shotgun, except antique rifles or shotguns, shall be delivered to any person
unless such person possesses and exhibits a valid firearms purchaser identification card and
furnishes the seller, on the form prescribed by the superintendent, a certification signed by
him setting forth his name, permanent address, firearms purchaser identification card number
and such other information as the superintendent may by rule or regulation require. The
certification shall be retained by the dealer and shall be made available for inspection by any
law enforcement officer at any reasonable time.
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(5) No handgun shall be delivered to any person unless:

{a) Such person possesses and exhibits a valid permit to purchase a firearm and at least
seven days have elapsed since the date of application for the permit;

(b) The person is personaily known to the seller or presents evidence of his identity;

{¢) The handgun is unloaded and securely wrapped;

{d) Except as otherwise provided in subparagraph () of this paragraph, the handgun is
accompanied by a trigger lock or a locked case, gun box, container or other secure facility;
provided, however, this provision shall not apply to antique handguns. The exemption
afforded under this subparagraph for antique handguns shall be narrowly construed, limited
solely to the requirements set forth herein and shall not be deemed to afford or authorize any
other exemption from the regulatory provisions governing firearms set forth in chapter 39
and chapter 58 of Title 2C of the New Jersey Statutes; and

(e) On and afier the first day of the sixth month following the date on which the fist of
personalized handguns is prepared and delivered pursuant to section 3 of P.L.2002, ¢.130
(C.20:58-2.4), the handgun is identified as a personalized handgun and included on that list
or is an antique handgun. The provisions of subparagraph (d) of this section shall not apply
to the delivery of a personalized handgun.

(6) The dealer shall keep a true record of every handgun sold, given or otherwise
delivered or disposed of, in accordance with the provisions of subsections b. through e. of
this section and the record shall note whether a trigger lock, locked case, gun box, container
or other secure facility was delivered along with the handgun.

(7) A dealer shall not knowingly deliver more than one handgun to any person within any
30-day period. This limitation shall not apply to:

(a) a federal, State, or local law enforcement officer or agency purchasing handgans for
use by officers in the actual performance of their law enforcement duties;

(b) a collector of handguns as curios or relics as defined in Title 18, United States Code,
section 921 (a) (13) who has in his possession a valid Collector of Curios and Relics License
issued by the federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives; or

(¢) transfers of handguns between licensed retail dealers.

b. Records. Every person engaged in the retail business of selling, leasing or otherwise
transferring a handgun, as a retail dealer or otherwise, shall keep a register in which shall be
entered the time of the sale, lease or other transfer, the date thereof, the name, age, date of
birth, complexion, occupation, residence and a physical description including distinguishing
physical characteristics, if any, of the purchaser, lessee or transferee, the name and
permanent home address of the person making the sale, lease or transfer, the place of the
transaction, and the make, model, manufacturer's number, caliber and other marks of
identification on such handgun and such other information as the superintendent shall deem
necessary for the proper enforcement of this chapter. The register shall be retained by the
dealer and shall be made available at all reasonable hours for inspection by any law
enforcement officer,

c. Forms of register. The superintendent shall prepare the form of the register as
described in subsection b. of this section and furnish the same in triplicate to each person
licensed to be engaged in the business of selling, leasing or otherwise transferring firearms.

d. Signatures in register. The purchaser, lessee or transferee of any handgun shall sign,
and the dealer shail require him to sign his name to the register, in triplicate, and the person
making the sale, lease or transfer shall affix his name, in triplicate, as a witness to the
signature. The signatures shall constitute a representation of the accuracy of the information
contained in the register.



You are Viewing an Archived Copy from the New Jersey State Library

P.L. 2009, CHAPTER 104
3

e. Copies of register entries; delivery to chief of police or county clerk. Within five
days of the date of the sale, assignment or transfer, the dealer shall deliver or mail by
certified mail, return receipt requested, legible copies of the register forms to the office of the
chief of police of the municipality in which the purchaser resides, or to the office of the
captain of the precinct of the municipality in which the purchaser resides, and to the
superintendent. If hand delivered a receipt shall be given to the dealer therefor.

Where a sale, assignment or transfer is made to a purchaser who resides in a municipality
having no chief of police, the dealer shall, within five days of the transaction, mail a
duplicate copy of the register sheet to the clerk of the county within which the purchaser
resides.

2., N.JS.2C:58-3 is amended to read as follows:

Purchase of firearms.

2C:58-3. Purchase of Firearms.

a. Permit to purchase a handgun. No person shall sell, give, transfer, assign or
otherwise dispose of, nor receive, purchase, or otherwise acquire a handgun unless the
purchaser, assignee, donee, receiver or holder is licensed as a dealer under this chapter or has
first secured a permit to purchase a handgun as provided by this section.

b. Firearms purchaser identification card. No person shall seli, give, transfer, assign or
otherwise dispose of nor receive, purchase or otherwise acquire an antique cannon or a rifie
or shotgun, other than an antique rifle or shotgun, unless the purchaser, assignee, donee,
receiver or holder is Hicensed as a dealer under this chapter or possesses a valid firearms
purchaser identification card, and first exhibits said card to the seller, donor, transferor or
assignor, and unless the purchaser, assignee, donee, receiver or holder signs a written
certification, on a form prescribed by the superintendent, which shall indicate that he
presently complies with the requirements of subsection c. of this section and shall contain his
name, address and firearms purchaser identification card number or dealer’s registration
mumber. The said certification shall be retained by the seller, as provided in paragraph (4) of
subsection a. of N.J.S.2C:58-2, or, in the case of a person who is not a dealer, it may be filed
with the chief of police of the municipality in which he resides or with the superintendent.

¢. 'Who may obtain. No person of good character and good repute in the community in
which he lves, and who is not subject to any of the disabilities set forth in this section or
other sections of this chapter, shail be denied a permit to purchase a handgun or a firearms
purchaser identification card, except as hereinafter set forth. No handgun purchase permit or
firearms purchaser ideatification card shall be issued:

(1) To any person who has been convicted of any crime, or a disorderly persons offense
involving an act of domestic violence as defined in section 3 of P.L.1991, ¢.261 (C.2C:25-
19), whether or not armed with or possessing a weapon at the time of such offense;

(2) To any drug dependent person as defined in section 2 of P.L.1970, ¢.226 (C.24:21-2),
to any person who is confined for a mental disorder to a hospital, mental institution or
sanitarium, or to any person who is presently an habitual dronkard;

(3) To any person who suffers from a physical defect or disease which would make it
unsafe for him to handle firearms, to any person who has ever been confined for a mental
~ disorder, or to any alcoholic unless any of the foregoing persons produces a certificate ofa
medical doctor or psychiatrist licensed in New Jersey, or other satisfactory proof, that he is
no longer suffering from that particular disability in such a manner that would interfere with
or handicap him in the handling of firearms; to any person who knowingly falsifies any
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information on the application form for a handgun purchase permit or firearms purchaser
identification card;

(4) To any person under the age of 18 years for a firearms purchaser identification card
and to any person under the age of 21 years for a permit to purchase a handgun;

(5) To any person where the issnance would not be in the interest of the public health,
safety or welfare;

(6) To any person who is subject to a restraining order issued pursuant to the "Prevention
of Domestic Violence Act of 1991," P.L.1991, c.26] (C.2C:25-17 et seq.) prohibiting the
person from possessing any firearm;

(7} To any person who as a juvenile was adjudicated delinquent for an offense which, if
cominitted by an adult, would constitute a crime and the offense involved the unlawful use or
possession of a weapon, explosive or destructive device or is emimerated in subsection d. of
section 2 of P.L.1997, ¢.117 (C.2C:43-7.2); or

{8) To any person whose firearm is seized pursuant to the "Prevention of Domestic
Violence Act of 1991," P.1.1991, ¢.261 (C.2C:25-17 et seq.) and whose fircarm has not been
returned. _

d. Issmance. The chief of police of an organized full-time police department of the
municipality where the applicant resides or the superintendent, in ail other cases, siall upon
application, issue to any person qualified under the provisions of subsection ¢. of this section
a permit to purchase a handgun or a firearms purchaser identification card.

Any person aggrieved by the denial of a permit or identification card may request a
hearing in the Superior Court of the county in which he resides if he is a resident of New
Jersey or in the Superior Court of the county in which his application was filed if he is a
nonresident. The request for a hearing shall be made in writing within 30 days of the denial
of the application for a permit or identification card. The applicant shall serve a copy of his
request for a hearing upon the chief of police of the municipality in which he resides, if he is
a resident of New Jersey, and upon the superintendent in all cases. The hearing shall be held
and a record made thereof within 30 days of the receipt of the application for such hearing by
the judge of the Superior Court. No formal pleading and no filing fee shall be required as a
preliminary to such hearing. Appeals from the results of such hearing shall be in accordance
with law. :

¢. Applications. Applications for permits to purchase a handgun and for firearms
purchaser identification cards shall be in the form prescribed by the superintendent and shall
set forth the name, residence, place of business, age, date of birth, occupation, sex and
physical description, including distinguishing physical characteristics, if any, of the
applicant, and shall state whether the applicant is a citizen, whether he is an alcoholic,
habitual drunkard, drug dependent person as defined in section 2 of P.L.1970, c.226
(C.24:21-2), whether he has ever been confined or committed to a mental institution or
hospital for treatment or observation of a mental or psychiatric condition on a temporary,
interim or permanent basis, giving the name and location of the institution or hospital and the
dates of such confinement or commitment, whether he has been attended, treated or observed
by any doctor or psychiatrist or at any hospital or mental institution on an inpatient or
outpatient basis for any mental or psychiatric condition, giving the name and location of the
doctor, psychiatrist, hospital or institution and the dates of such occurrence, whether he
presently or ever has been a member of any organization which advocates or approves the
commission of acts of force and violence to overthrow the Government of the United States
or of this State, or which seeks to deny others their rights under the Constitution of €ither the
United States or the State of New Jersey, whether he has ever been convicted of a crime or
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disorderly persons offense, whether the person is subject to a restraining order issued
pursuant to the "Prevention of Domestic Violence Act of 1991," P.L.1991, c.261 (C.2C:25-
17 et seq.) prohibiting the person from possessing any firearm, and such other information as
the superintendent shall deem necessary for the proper enforcement of this chapter. For the
purpose of complying with this subsection, the applicant shall waive any statutory or other
right of confidentiality relating to institutional confinement. The application shall be signed
by the applicant and shall contain as references the names and addresses of two reputable
citizens personally acquainted with him.

Application blanks shall be obtainable from the superintendent, from any other officer
authorized to grant such permit or identification card, and from licensed retail dealers.

The chief police officer or the superintendent shall obtain the fingerprints of the applicant
and shall have them compared with any and all records of fingerprints in the municipality
and county in which the applicant resides and also the records of the State Bureau of
Identification and the Federal Bureau of Investigation, provided that an applicant for a
handgun purchase permit who possesses a valid firearms purchaser identification card, or
who has previously obtained a handgun purchase permit from the same licensing authority
for which he was previously fingerprinted, and who provides other reasonably satisfactory
proof of his identity, need not be fingerprinted again; however, the chief police officer or the
superintendent shall proceed to investigate the application to determine whether or not the
applicant has become subject to any of the disabilities set forth in this chapter.

f. Granting of permit or identification card; fee; term; remewal; revocation. The
application for the permit to purchase a handgun together with a fee of $2, or the application
for the firearms purchaser identification card together with a fee of $5, shall be delivered or
forwarded to the licensing authority who shall investigate the same and, unless good cause
for the denial thereof appears, shall grant the permit or the identification card, or both, if
application has been made therefor, within 30 days from the date of receipt of the application
for residents of this State and within 45 days for nonresident applicants. A permit to
purchase a handgun shall be valid for a period of 90 days from the date of issuance and may
be renewed by the issuing authority for good cause for an additional 90 days. A firearms
purchaser identification card shall be valid until such time as the holder becomes subject to
any of the disabilities set forth in subsection ¢. of this section, whereupon the card shall be
void and shall be returned within five days by the holder to the superintendent, who shall
then advise the licensing authority. Failure of the holder to return the firearms purchaser
identification card to the superintendent within the said five days shall be an offensec under
subsection a. of N.J.S.2C:39-10. Any firearms purchaser identification card may be revoked
by the Superior Court of the county wherein the card was issued, after hearing upon notice,
upon a finding that the holder thereof no longer qualifies for the issuance of such permit. The
county prosecutor of any county, the chief police officer of any municipality or any citizen
may apply to such court at any time for the revocation of such card.

There shall be no conditions or requirements added to the form or content of the
application, or required by the licensing authority for the issuance of a permit or
identification card, other than those that are specifically set forth in this chapter.

g. Disposition of fees. All fees for permits shall be paid to the State Treasury if the
permit is issued by the superintendent, to the municipality if issued by the chief of police,
and to the county treasurer if issued by the judge of the Superior Court.

h. Form of permit; quadruplicate; disposition of copies. The permit shall be in the form
prescribed by the superintendent and shall be issued to the applicant in quadruplicate. Prior
to the time he receives the handgun from the seller, the applicant shall deliver to the seller
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the permit in quadruplicate and the seller shall complete all of the information required on
the form. Within five days of the date of the sale, the seller shall forward the original copy
to the superintendent and the second copy to the chief of police of the municipality in which
the purchaser resides, except that in a municipality having no chief of police, such copy ghall
be forwarded to the superintendent. The third copy shall then be returned to the purchaser
with the pistol or revolver and the fousth copy shall be kept by the seller as a permanent
record.

i Restriction on number of firearms person may purchase. Only one handgun shall be
purchased or delivered on each permit and no more than one handgun shail be purchased
within any 30-day period, but this limitation shall not apply to:

(1) a federal, State or local law enforcement officer or agency purchasing handguns for
use by officers in the actual performance of their law enforcement duties;

(2) a collector of handguns as curios or relics as defined in Title 18, United States Code,
section 921 (a) (13) who has in his possession a valid Collector of Curios and Relics License
issued by the federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives; or

(3) transfers of handguns between licensed retail dealers.

A person shall not be restricted as to the number of rifles or shotguns he may purchase,
provided he possesses a valid firearms purchaser identification card and provided further that
he signs the certification required in subsection b. of this section for each transaction.

j. Firearms passing to heirs or legatees. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
section concerning the transfer, receipt or acquisition of a firearm, a permit to purchase or a
firearms purchaser identification card shall not be required for the passing of a firearm upon
the death of an owner thereof to his heir or legatee, whether the same be by testamentary
bequest or by the laws of intestacy. The person who shall so receive, or acquire said firearm
shall, however, be subject to all other provisions of this chapter. If the heir or legatee of such
firearm does not qualify to possess or carry it, he may retain ownership of the firearm for the
purpose of sale for a period not exceeding 180 days, or for such further limited period as may
be approved by the chief law enforcement officer of the municipality in which the heir or
legatee resides or the superintendent, provided that such firearm is in the custody of the chief
law enforcement officer of the municipality or the superintendent during such period.

k. Sawed-off shotguns. Nothing in this section shall be construed to authorize the
purchase or possession of any sawed-off shotgun.

1. Nothing in this section and in N.J.5.2C:58-2 shall apply to the sale or purchase of a
visual distress signalling device approved by the United States Coast Guard, solely for
possession on a private or commercial aircraft or any boat; provided, however, that no person
under the age of 18 years shall purchase nor shall any person sell to a person under the age of
18 years such a visual distress signalling device.

3. This act shall take effect on the first day of the fifth month following enactment.

Approved August 6, 2009,



STATE OF NEW JERSEY
You are Viewing an Archived Copy fronkthaMavnderseysitate Library

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 145

WHEREAS, -protecting the public safety and welfare is the most
basic duty of govefnmen;, and to ﬁhis end, effective and reasonable'
measures must be implemen;ed to kKeep citizens safe from violence; and

WHEREAS, New Jersey hag taken a variety of steps to combat gun
violence, incluaing requifing prison terms for those who usé firearms
in erimes; regulating the sale and transfer of guns to ensure that
firearms are. being purchased only by iaw—gbiding citizens; imposing
restrictions on handgun purchases; and.lbarring the sale of assault
firearms; and

WﬁEREAS, effective limitations regarding firearms, as well aé
other deterrent and énforcemenf measures, are essential to maintaining
the public saféty, but necessérily impact all residents of thié State,
including law—abiding collectors of £firearms and competitive and
recreational fireaxrms users; éna

WHEREAS, in 2007, MNew -Jersey  entered into a  cooperative
agreement, the first of its kind in the nation, forming a partnership
with the Fedefal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives
to allow New Jersey State Police direct access to “E-TRACE" data, to
trace illegal firearms back to their source as yet another measure to
unicover gun crimes and deter illegal gﬁn trafficking; and

WHEREAS, it is appropriate to maintain a dialogue with interested
parties and experts regarding the effectiveﬂess of our State’s
fireaxrms laws . in combating gun violence and the 'impact of these
restrictions on law-abiding firearms owners;

NOW, THEREFORE, I, JON S..CORZINE, Governor of thé State of New
Jersey, by virtuwe of the authority vestgd in me by the Constitution
and by the Statutes of this State, do hereby ORDER and DIRECT:

1. There is hereby established a Task Force to review,
evaluate and make recommendatioﬁs regarding New Jersey’s sﬁatutory and
regulatory schemes and programmatic initiatives to curb the iilegal
posseasion, use, and trafficking of firearms énd, more specifically,

the . anticipated passage of “one-handgun-per-month” . legislatien,
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criminal penalties for illegal transfer of guns, programmatic measures
to curb illegal traﬁsfers of firearms, and the ‘firearm.permitting and
regulatory processes (collectively, “firearms regulation”).

2. The Task Force recommendétions shall address at a minimum
the following issues: the permiltting processes; the effectivene;ss of
any ' statutory limitations on the sale and transfer of firearms,
including the anticipated passage of one-handgun-per-month .legislation
and the efficacy of any exceptions contained in that -.legislation; and
measures to deter “straw purchases” and the illegal transport of guns
into New Jersey for purposes of transfer. The recommendations shall
include specific suggestions to improve the effectiveness of firearms
regulation in these areas and shall include any appropriate
recommendations for legislative changes.

3. The Task Force shall be composed of nine membe:;s.
Membership shall include the Attorney General or designee, the
Superintendent of State Police or designee, and a representative  of
the County Prosecutors’ Association. Additionally, the Task Force
shall include one wmwember  representing an association of pistol and
rifle clubs opér-ating in New Jerséy and one member representing .an
organization that promotes gun violence prevention, which members ;1;5
to be app_ointed by the Governor. Additionally, ll:he Task Force shall
include two member of the Senate, one of whom with experience with
firearms and firearms restrictiohs, to be selected by the President of
the Senate; and two members of the General Assembly, one of whom with
experience with firearms and firearms restrictions, to be selected by
the Speaker of the Ceneral Assembly. Vacancies on the Task Force
shall be filled in the same mamner as the originai selrection_s. The -
non-legislative members shall serve at - the pleésure of the Governor
and without compensation. The Governor shall appoint the Chair of the
Task Force. The members shall select a Vice-Chair through a majority
vote. ) _

4. The Task Force members shall be appointed and convene

within thirty days of the effective date of this Order. The Task
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Force shaIi complete an initial report within 90 days of its first
meeting. The - initial report shall be served -on the Governer and
Legislature sq' as to allow resppﬁsive action within the c¢urrent’
legislative session. The initial report shall focus on the
anticipated passage of ‘“one-handgun-per-month* legislation in New
Jersey, including its impact on firearms collectors and competitivé
gnd recreational firearms users. The initial report shall include
recommendations for any appropriate legislative cﬂanges to ensﬁre that
laﬁful firearms colléctors and competitive and recreational firearms
users are not adversely‘ affected by the legislation, including thé
excebtions to the one-handgun limitation gontainéd‘in Section 2(i) of
General Assembly Bill_No. 339 (2008) (First Reprint} and Senate Bill
N6. 1774 {2008). The Task Force shall produce its final report no
later than 18 months after delivery of its initial reporkt. At a
minimum, the report shall include an analysis of the impact of the
cne-handgun-per-month legislation on gun crime and the prevalence of
illegal firearms in New Jersey.

S. In furtherance of its mission, the Task .Force shall be
authorized to call upon any department, office, divisioq, or agency of
this State to supply it with any available informétion, personnel, or
assistance as it deems necessary to discharge its duties under this
Order. Each department, office, division, or agency of this Sﬁate is
bereby required, to the extent not inconsistent with law, to cooperate
fully with, the Task Force and te furnish it with such available
information, ‘persomnel, or assistance on as timely a basis as is
nécessary to accbmplish the purposes of this Order. The Task Férce
may consﬁ;t with experts or other knowledgeasble individuals in the
public or private sector on any aspect of its mission.

6. In order that the Task Force be informed of and consider a
broad range of Qiews and éxperiences in the course of its work, the

Task Force shall convene at least one public hearing.

Printed on recycled paper



. NeEw J
You are Vlewmg an Archived- Copy frorp‘tggg?hfg%gﬁ;{st%é?ate Library

7. This Order shall take effect immediately.

GIVEN under my hand and seal this
25 day of June
Two Thousand and Nine, and of
the Independence of the United
States, the Two Hundred and
Thirty-Third.

/s/ Jon 8. Corzine

Governor

[seal]
Attest:

/s/ William J. Castner

¢hief Counsel to the Governor

Printed on recycled paper
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GOVERNOR’S STATEMENT UPON SIGNING
ASSEMBLY BILL NO. 339
({First Reprint)

Assembly Bill No. 339 (First Reprint), which I signed
today, amends the provisions of law regarding purchases of
handguns by individuals who have been issued a permit to
purchase a handgun, and is intended to limit handgun
purchases by such individuals to the purchase of one
handgun in a thirty-day period, and to prohibit the
delivery of more than one handgun in a thirty-day period to
such individuals. I agree with the bill‘s sponsors that
with this legislation we take an important, common sense
step to cut off an avenue for straw purchasers to buy
multiple handguns with the intention of transferring them
to pexrsons who could not legally obtain handguns due to a
criminal record. I sign the bill with the understanding
that, as the bill text and legislative history bear out,
the bill is not intended to affect the law pertaining to
.otherwise proper transfers of handguns between dealers or
between authorized manufacturers of firearms and dealers.
Instead, it limits the sale or purchase of wmore than one
handgun in a thirty-day period to a consumer, unless one of
the bill’'s exceptions applies.

Date: August 6, 2009 /e/ Jon 8. Corzine

Governor

Attest:

/s/ William J. Castner
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ROBERT D. BERNARDI (Chair): Good morning, ladies and
genﬂemen.

My name is Robert Bernardi, and I am serving as the Chair of
the Firearms Task Force. Serving with me on the Firearms Task Force are
the following individuals: Senator Fred H. Madden of the 4th Legislative
District, who sits to my left -- he is the Vice Chair of the Committee;
Senator Sandra B. Cunningham of the 3Ist Legislative District,
immediately to my right; Assemblyman John J. Burzichelli of the 3rd
Legislative District; Assemblyman Gordon Johnson of the 37th Legislative
Diétrict; Ronald Susswein, Assistant Attomey General_,.on beha_ilf of the
Attomey General Anne Milgram; Lieutenant Colonel Chris Andreychak, on
behalf of the Superintendent of State Police; Bryan Miller, Executive
Director of Ceasefire New Jersey; and Robert A. Nixon, from the
Association of the New Jersey Rifle and Pistol Clubs. .

| By way of background, the Firearms Task Force was created as
a result of Executive Order 145, which was signed by Governor Corzine on
June 25, 2009. The Govemor created the Task Force in order to review,.
and evaluate, and make recommendations regarding New Jersey’s statutory
and regulatory schemes and programmatic initiatives to curb the illegal

possession, use, and trafficking of firearms. More bpeaﬁcahy the Governor |
has asked us to make recommendations addressing the following issues: the
permitting processes; the effectiveness of any statutory limitations on the
sale and transfer of firearms, including the impact of the one handgun per
month legislation which was éigned into law by the Governor on August 6,

2009. The bill, A-339/S-1774, sets a one gun a month limitation, on the
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purchase of only handguns, to one sales transaction pef individual in a 30-
day period. |

The Governor's Executive Order also tequired that the Task
‘Force convene within 30 days of the issuance of the Executive Order.
Pursuant to his order, the Task Force met on July 27, 2009, and met s
second time on Augﬁst 10, 2009.

Additionally, pursuant to Executive Order 145, the Task Force
was requested to convene a public meeting. Thereafter, the Task Force will
issue an initial report, which will include recommendations for -any
appropriate 1eg131at1ve changes to ensure that lawful firearms collectors and |
competitive and recreational firearms users are not adversely affected by
this legislation. That initial report is to be prowded to the Governor and
- Legislature no later than October 27,2009.

By way of foxmat for today S meetmg, we have previously
provided invitations to various interested parties to appear before the Task
Force and provide testimony with regard to this legislatien. Today we have -
also provided a sign-in sheet for any individuals who wish to provide
testimony which is relevant to the issues to.be addressed by the Task Force.
I would ask that if any mdividuals have not vet signed in that they please
do so on the sign-in forms that you can pick up toward the front.

While it is not the intent of the Chalr to limit comments of
invited speakers I would like to make it clear that the Task Force is not
here to éngage in debate on the bill itself, which has already been signed
into law. The pnnc1pa1 issue that the Task Force intends to address is

whether or not this bill will unduly impact upon the ability of firearms
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collectors, and competitive and recreational users. Accordingly, I would ask
that you attempt to limit your comments to that issue.

Given the number of individuals who wish to present testimony
today, I am requesting that you attempt to keep your comments relevant
and to approximately 10 minutes. Following this format will permit the
Task Force to hear from all parties who have an interest in providing input.
For those of you who have provided written submissions either today or in
advance of this hearing, please be advised that all of the Task Force
members have been provided with them, and they will be incorporated into
the record of this proceeding and considered when the initial report is
submitted to the Governor and the Legislature.

By way of housekeeping, we intend to work through the day in
order to accommodate all those who wish to be heard. After each speaker
has made their presentation to the Task Force, I will then open it up to any
questions from any members of the committee in the event they wish
clarification or additional information from the speaker.

Before we begin hearing from the speakers, I would ask if any
members of the committee desire to make any statements at this time, and
would also offer time to the sponéors of the bill if they so desire.

Members of the commitiee? {no response)

Having heard no response, one last note. Please silence your
cell phones if they're on. I know that’s somethiﬁg we frequently forget. If

you need to make a call or receive a call, please step out of the room.

With that, we’re going to proceed with hearing from the various

people who have asked to give testimony today.



You are Viewing an Archived Copy from the New Jersey State Library

I'm going to start by recdghizing Senator Marcia Karrow of the
23rd Legislative District. |

Sénator, welcome.
SENATOR MARCIA A KARROW: Thank you, Chair
and members of the committee -- my very esteemed colleagues from both
the Assembly and the Senate. It’s nice to see y’ou all in the summer, as
we’re now in the fall already. |

I appreciate the opportumty to say a few words. 1 certamly will -
not take 10 minutes. | |

My comments and objections to.this bill are well-documented --
both the Assembly, and Senate, and statewide. But since the bill was signed
into law, specifically the issues of concern among my cdnstituents in the
23rd, which is Hunterdon and Warren counties, as well as my friends in the
sports, and huntmg, and collection realm is two-fold; One is that the bill, as
it currently stands, will certainly have an impact for people who want to
buy collections of guns, series of guns that come out -- both new and old --
when 'they become available. And there is also -- and there are members
here -- other people here who can certainly speak better than I on the
technicalities of gun transfer and selling guns to dealers, and dealers also
selling in between -- to each other; and what’s going to happen with this
bill, and how it limits the exchange of guns among the free market legally to
dealers, which will have not only a devastating effect to law—abldmg gun-
owners, but also the economy in New Jersey as far as gun transfers go - and
legal gun transfers. |

The only other comment I want to make is how disappointed I

am in the composition of this panel; that no member of the Minority in the

4
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Assembly or the Senate was asked to serve; that all four members of the
Legislature are from the Majority party. This was not a legislatively created
panel but one set by the Governor. And it is extremely clear to me, and [
hope the members of the press notice it as well, that the Governor had no
intention of having an open dialogue about this bill, and that Wﬁatever
comes out of this bill -- of this panel -- with no disrespect to any of the
legislators on here at all, or any of the other members -- is without real,
open dialogue, and it’s at whatever the Governor really wants. I'm just very
disappointed that, as I said, none of the members of the Minority party
who objected to this bill, who understand gun ownership and gun laws, who
objected on the floor about this bill, were invited to sexve.
| ~ And I thank you for your time, and I hope to see you all soon.
MR. BERNARDI: Thank you very much, Senator.
The Chair would next like to recognize Mr. Scott Bach.

Please, Mr. Bach, come up.

I would ask, for the record, if when you come to the podium --
or microphone -- that you restate your name and spell your last name as
well, because this will be, ultimately -- potentially transcribed.

So I thank you for that.

SCOTT L BACH: Good moming and thank you for hearing us
today.

| My name is Scott Bach, B-A-C-H, and I am President of the
Association of New Jersey Rifle and Pistol Clubs, representing hundreds of
thousands of law-abiding gun owners. I'm also an attorney licensed in four

states and a member of law enforcement.
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Without commenting on the public policy issues surroundiﬁg
the one gun a month law, we are here .today to point out, as we have done
many times previously, that this law has Severe unintended consequences
which adversely impact dealers, collectors, competitors, and other honest
gun owners who have no involvement whatsoever in gun crime or illegal
trafficking. .

It is not only possible but, in fact, a relatively simple mattef to
address these unintended consequences without compromising the law’s
crime—fighting purpose. In fact, under the extreme time pressures of the
politiéal process that produced this law, the Legislaturé attempted to do just
that. But as you will see from our testimony today, the hastily crafted
exemptions in the law actually create more problems than they solve.

There are two general categories of unintended consequences
that you now have the opportuhity to address. One is a severe restric?i’on
on the ability of licensed dealers to acquire inventory. The other is an
unjustified impact on honest citizens from all walks of life who have no
connection to gun crime or iIlegal trafficking. |

New IerSey gun law is as complex as it is misunderstood. Today
our goal is to help you sort out the fact from the fiction so you can make an
informed recommendation that will unburden the Jaw-abiding without
compromising the law’s crime-fighting purpose. 7.

My remarks- today are intended to provide you with an
overview. Those who follow will give much detail from their own umque
perspectives. There are many here to testify today, so I will keep my

remarks brief -- well under 10 minutes.
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With regard to the dealer exemption that is written into the
current law: That was an attempt to address dealer concerns raised during
the committee process. The original bill contained no exemption for
dealers, and their businesses would have been decimated by restricting them
to the purchase and sale of only one handgun per month. Unfortunately,
the current exemption does little to fix this and, as written, actually
prevents dealers from obtaining inventory by cutting them off from their
primary suppliers.

Gun stores - obtain inventory from three main sources:
manufacturers, wholesale distributors, and private citizens. They generally
do not obtain inventory from other gun stores. But the law, as written, only

| exempts transfers between retail dealers -- that’s a.defined term under New
Jersey law that essentially means gun stores. New Jersey law separately
defines wholesale dealers. essentialfy to be distributors. ‘Because thé 1a§v, as
written, only exempts transfers between retail dealers -- meaning gun stores --
there’'s no exemption for transfers from ._distributors, manufacturers, or
individual citizens. And gun stores can still only buy one handgun per
month in total from these primary sources. This will severely choke off the
supply of inventory to licensed dealers, will devastate their businesses, and
will severely limit the ability of honest citizens to exercise the constitutional
right to purchase handguns. This was clearly not the Legislature’s intent
when it tried to create a dealer exemption in response to industry concerns.

The lawyers and dealers who will be testifying today will
expand on this analysis in much greater detail. But in the end, you'll see
that the current dealer exemption is fundamentally flawed and incomplete.

The bottom line is that it could easily be amended to exempt all transfers to

7
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dealers, not just retail-to-retail. All transfers need to be included - those by
wholesalers, manufacturers, individuals, and other retailers.

Now, the law also has a collectors’ exemption written into it.
And that exemption attempted to address concerns that were also raised
durlng the leglslatwe process. That exemption seeks to exempt those who
- hold a Federal ATF curios and relics license, which covers hundred-year-old
antiques. Not only doesn’t it address the legitimate concerns of honest gun
owners, but it is also a red herring, because possessing such a license under
New Jersey law could subject the holder to criminal prosecution as an
unlicensed dealer. A New Jersey resident with a Federal curios and relics
license violates State law if the resident buys or sells under the license
without also having a State dealer license, the same one that’s issued to gun
stores and nearly impossible to obtain if you're just a collector.

New Jersey authorities - and you'll hear much more about this
in the other testimony -- have an active track record of 1t'argeting and
prosecuting those who have the Federal license but not the State license.
" The bottom line is that the curios and relics license is simply not available
to New Jersey residents as alpractical matter. And those who have obtained
them in the past héve’ become targets of law enforcement.

| But even if that license were available, the idea that the
interests of hundreds - the interests of collectors and competitors are met
by exempting hundred-year-old antiques is pure fantasy. Modern handguns
are the ones most often purchased, _qgift‘ed, and bequeathed by competitors
and collectors - a fact addressed by our sister state of Maryland after
carefully considering the issue and creating a state collector’s license after it

passed one gun a month.
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Law-abiding collectors who identify themselves as such and pass‘
heightened scrutiny are issued a collector’s license that exempts them for all
handguns, whether modern or antique. The reason is really simple: Once
they’ve identified themselves and passed scrutiny, it’s clear that they are not
part of the problem the law is trying to address.

Collectors, competitors, and other law-abiding gun owners
come from every walk of life. They are doctors, lawyers, pipe fitters and
builders, white collar and blue collar, male and female, black and white,
young and old, even firefighters and police. That’s right, even police are not
exempt under the new law for their personally owned sidearms, only their
duty guns. New Jersey should not treat honest gun owners the same way it
treats criminals, but it does under the new law. The current exemption not
only provides no relief, but it also sets a trap for the unsuspecting.

We need a robust exemption for honest citizens, one that
preserves the law’s crime-fighting purpose without unnecessarily restricting
the good guys. You'll hear many ideas about how to accomplish this from
those of us here today; everything from following Maryland’s collector’s
license lead, to adding a collector’s endorsement to the firearms ID card, to
overhauling the permit process, to -exempting members  of select

rganizations. In the end, our message tc you is simple: You can fight
crime without trampling our rights.
| And that concludes my overview. I'll be happy to stand for any
questions.

MR. BERNARDI: Thank you very much, Mr. Bach.

Any questions of any of the committee members? (no response)

Thank you.
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MR. BACH: Thank you very much.

MR BERNARDI: We appreciate your ti_rhe today coming in.

MR. BACH: Thank you for your interest.

MR. BERNARDI: You're welcome.

- I'would like to next call up Jake McGuigan.

Is Mr. McGuigan here? (affirmative response)

Press it again. (referring to PA microphone) Red light means
on. You have it. | |
JAKE McGUIGAN: Good morning, Chairman, Task Force.

MR. BERNARDI:- Good morning.

MR. McGUIGAN: My name is Jake McGuigan, Director of
Govemrﬁent Relations for the National Shooting Sports Foundation.

The National Shooting Sports Foundation is the trade
association for thé firearms, an-nmunition,' hun"ting,l and reéreaﬁor;tél
shooting sports indu-stries. And we welcome the opportunity to discuss the
recently passed one gun a month legjslation. We also represent dealers here
throughout Nevs; Jersey.

Once again, New Jersey leads the way ih prohibiting law-
abiding citizens from exeféising their constitutionally protected right. Not
only are léw—abidiﬁg citizens impacted by this law, but also the small mom
and pop businesses which pay taxes and provide jobs in your state. More
importantly though is that acéording to goVemment studies and statistics,
the legislation stands a tremendous uphill battle in reducing crime. -

Even with the 1egislative mandates in 'place to eliminate
'ériminal access to firearms, the industry has taken an active role to address

the concerns of New Jersey legislators through the use of our joint program

10
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* called Don't Lie for the Other Guy. We work exclusively with the ATF and
the Department of Justice on this anti-straw-purchasing program.

As recently as last November the firearms industry brought
Don't Lie for the Other Guy to Newark, New Jersey, against the
recommendations of both the ATF and the New Jersey State Police, because
they said straw purchasing simply does not occur in New Jersey. The
Newark Star-Ledger, as well, editorialized against the one gun a month
legislation saying it simply would not decrease crime in New Jersey.

With all that in mind, there is one thing that needs to- be
addressed for our members. While everyone here on the Task Force and
legislators continue to say that the intent of the legislation is not to dfy up
the inventory of firearms for federally licensed dealers, it is still not clearly

addressed in the form that the Legislature passed.

You have effectively destroyed the distribution channel for our
law-abiding retailers. There needs to be language included that will protect
retailers from falling prey to this legislation. Currently, it only states that
transfers between licensed retail dealers are exempt. There needs to be an
addition to state that it has to exempt transfers between licensed parties --
all licensed parties -- which would include distributors and manufacturers.
Becaiise most of our retailers will get their firearms and their inventory from
distributors, as well as from -- or directly from their manufacturers and
wholesalers as well.

Based upon New Iersey law, a retailer is -- or a retailer/dealer is
defined as a retailer that is not a manufacturer or distributor. So does that
mean that any warranty work that a dealer would do and send back to a

manufacturer would count against the one gun a month legislation?

11
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_ Today there are many qualified dealers here in the room who
are here to discuss this and how this will impact their business. I'm not
going to go into the details of that, but tﬁey can tell you how it’s going to
hurt them, how it’s going to affec_t them, and more lspecifically, how it's
going to affect their tax revenue and the jobs they provide here in the state.

I appreciate the opportunity to come down here and testify.
And if anything, getting an exemption for the retailers and for the dealers in
this legislation has to be done or, in essence, you are drying up the law-
abiding citizens’ inventory and the dealers” ability to conduct business here
in New Jersey.

I appreciate your time today and Would allow any questions if
you have any. |
MR BERNARDI: Did you provide your written testimohy in
~ advance? T | ' |
MR. McGUIGAN: No, sir, I did not provide my testimony.
MR. BERNARDI: Do you have a copy that you can leave with
-us? | | '

MR. McGUIGAN: I can provide it to you. Yes, I could.

MR. BERNARDI: Aﬂrzight. I would ask if you could forward
that after the fact, that would be ﬁne. '

MR. McGUIGAN: Not a problem, sir.

MR. BERNARDI: I do have a question for you: Can you give
me your definition of-- You used the term distributor. 'What do you mean
by that? | )

MR. McGUIGAN: Well, many of our retailers will tise .a

distributor. There are distributors throughout the northeast that strictly--

12
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| They have contracts with various manufacturers. So the manufacturers will
go through that distributor. They do not sell to the retail market. It’s just
like any other industry. You have distributors who -- you know, alcohol,
tobacco -- you have various distributors. They do not sell to the general
public. |

MR. BERNARDI: So they're wholesalers.

MR. McGUIGAN: Correct. And they will sell to the retailer
and provide them with the inventory. And some of our retailers go directly
to the manufacturer. The way this is written, it would be simply saying that
the transfers can only occur between Joe’s Gun Shop and Bob’s Gun Shop, -
and not actually between where their inventory is coming from.

MR. BERNARDI: A licensed retail dealer is what the statute
says, right? '

MR. McGUIGAN: Yes, sir. = -

MR. BERNARDI: Do you have any number that you can tell
me, in terms of how many distributors there are in New Jersey?

MR. McGUIGAN: In New Jersey alone, I believe there are not
any distributors. There may be one distributor, but mostly there are more
like eight to 10 large distributors throughout the U.S., regionally based.

MR. BERNARDI: But none that you're aware of in this state?

MR. McGUIGAN: There is one, I believe.

MR. BERNARDI: Okay. Thank you.

MR. McGUIGAN: You're welcome.

MR. | BERNARDI: Any questidns from any members? (no
response)

Thank you, sir. We appreciate it.

13
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MR. McGUIGAN: Thank you.

And there will be others to touch upon the retail issue and give
you more specifics. I want to leave them the opportunify to do that.

MR. BERNARDI: We appreciate that.

MR. McGUIGAN: “Thank you.

MR. BERNARDL Next, the Chair would like to call Mr.
Andrew Jennison. | |
ANDREW JENNISON: Good moring, Mr. Chairman. -

MR. BERNARDI: Good morning. |

How are you? | .

MR. JENNISON: I'm doing well. And yourself?

MR. BERNARDI: Good, thanks.

7 MR. ]ENNISON I am Andrew Jennison, J-E-N-N-I- S O- N.

I'm the State Liaison for the National Rlﬂe Assoc1at10n in New Jersey. In
addition, I'm also the State Liaison for Maryland and Virginia, those states
with one gun a month legislation already on the books. |

So rather than reiterate what Mr. Bach has already discussed,
I'd like to maybe briefly discuss Maryland’s exemptions, and éxceptions to
their law that they currently provide. I probably wouldn't make a
compaﬁson more of Virginia-New Jersey, just based on the overview of their
entire firearm laws. They're a little. more open -- I guess tQhe- gun owner
rlghts in Vlrglma o | .

So.I think what F'd like to talk about reaily is-- There’s eight
“categories of exceptions for one gun a month: law enforcement;  agency
authorized for law enforcement, such as subway patrol or subway system;

_correctional; private security companies; the purchase of an antique firearm,

14
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‘in particular purchased by a dealer, which Mr. Bach has already discussed
and further definitions of dealers have already been talked about; the
exchange or replacement of a firearm by a seller for a firearm purchased by
the same person secking an exchange within the 30-day period -- they find
out that maybe there’s a mechanical malfunction, they’d like to take it back
to the dealer to get it replaced, maybe they have to do a repair; you could
get another gun to replace that. A person whose firearm was stolen or lost--
Now, you have to have three different items in Maryland to prove that it
was, I guess, stolen or irretrievably lost: a police report. The report has to
list the type of firearm, the owner, I think a few more characteristics, I think
where you think it was lost or stolen -- if it was stolen out of your residence,
your car -- and the report has to be made within 30 days of that -- of the
notification of being stolen or lost. Now, the exemption that Mr. Bach
discussed a few minutes ago is the curios and relics. And T've included a
copy for the Task Force to look at. You can print it off the state police
Web site, you fill out the information, you get it notarized, you send it back
to the state police, and within the allotted time -- I don’t know the exact
time - they'll send it back to you relatively soon from whenever-- You have
a curios -- or a Maryland state collector’s license, and that is good forever;
so you display that to the dealer, and you can purchase two, three firearms
-~ if you want. Or you can actually possess a Federal curios and relics license.
So it’s either/or, it does not have to be both. Virginia is very similar, but
they have some more exemptions that are probably not meaningful to go
too deep in the weeds on that one.

So I actually am open to any questions. Hopefully I can answer

them for you all. I was not the State Liaison at the time of passage, so I
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wouldn’t be able to, obviously, discuss the original intent of the legislation
or any battles that were waged during that time. But after the process, I've
been somewhat familiar with any problems that people have talked about.
So if anyone has any questions, I'm open to discuss.

MR. BERNARDI: Mr. Nixon has one.

MR. NIXON: Andrew, would you just give a little more clarity
on how they go about exempting the collectors out of the one gun law in
Maryland? [ know you have to fill out this form we’ve been provided with.

MR. JENNISON: Yes. You send it to the state police; they do
a check just like they would on any normal purchase; they go throﬁgh the
whole process; and they understand that if that person has taken that next
step to actually fill out a form, send it to the state police, in addition to the
normal background check that has to be performed on each firearm
purchase -- their understanding is that this is an upsténding citizen who just
wants to actually purchase firearms for multiple purposes. Maybe they
vsfanted to purchase one for themselves and their wife; there was a deal that
they couldn’t pass up. Soit’s a very mechanical pfocess. Like I said, you
fill it out, have it notarized, and they will send you a card in the mail. It’s
very simple. |

MR. NIXON: So they have, in the Maryland code regﬁlations
under letter 4, that you devote time and attention-to acquiring certain types
of regulated firearms for the enhancement of the collector’s personal

- collection; does not act as a dealer-- |

MR. JENNISON: Correct.

MR. NIXON: And then the second part of that is, “or if you

have the Federal curios and relics license.”
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MR. JENNISON: Yes.

MR. NIXON: So you're going to certify in this affidavit to the
'Maryland state police that you have a private collection, these firearms are
for that private collection. And theyre going to do an additional
background check? Is that--

MR. JENNISON: Correct.

MR. NIXON: That's the way it works. Okay. Thank you.

MR. BERNARDI: Do you know the nature of this enhanced
background check -- I mean specifically what is done? . o

" MR. JENNISON: No, I don’t. [ would assume it’s a state

pohce records check. And in addition, it might be the Federal check as well.

You're going to have the Federal check either way when you purchase a

fircarm.

MR. BERNARDI: Wouldn't that be done for an ordinary
application?

MR. JENNISON: I'm sorry, for the firearms application?

MR. BERNARDI: For an ordinary application to purchase?

MR. JENNISON: Yes it would.

MR. BERNARDI: All right. So is there something in addition
to just running a records check on someone that you're aware of? |

MR. JENNISON: No, not that I'm aware of.

MR. BERNARDI: To get this special type of license.

MR. JENNISON: Correct.

MR. BERNARDI: Nothing you’re aware of.

MR. JENNISON: Nothing that I'm aware of, sir.

MR. BERNARDI: Okay.
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Mr. Susswein. ,
MR. SUSSWEIN: Can I just ask you two questions? In the
" Maryland system, did they.specify -- does the law regulation specify any
criteria for what constitutes a collector other than a person saying that they
are a collector? |
MR. JENNISON: I will have to get back to you on that. I will
‘have-to look up that exact section and clarify that.
| MR. SUSSWEIN: All right. And the second question: You
had mentioned, in Maryland, a state curios and relics license.

MR. JENNISON: Yes.

MR. SUSSWEIN: 1 assume that having gotten that, they
would only be able then to -- outside the one gun a month law -- only be
able to purchase those weapons that constitute curios or relics.

MR. JENNISON: No, it would Be aﬁy handgun, firearm. ‘So it
would not have to be an antique firearm if you have that license.

MR. SUSSWEIN: Wouldn’t that exception sort of swallow

.that rule then?. |
MR. JENNISON: It’s an enhancement of a collector’s personal
collection. o
MR SUSSWEIN: This is for the curios and-
MR. JENNISON: The Maryland state license.
' MR SUSSWEIN: Okay. |
MR. JENNISON: You can be a collector of any:type of firearm.

It doesn’t have to be an antique.
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MR. SUSSWEIN: Oh, I'm sorry. I thought there was a
separate exception for state curios and relics. You're saying this is all un_derl
the collector’s--

MR. JENNISON: It's a collector’s, yes.

MR. SUSSWEIN: Okay. Thank you.

MR. JENNISON: Thank you.

MR. BERNARDI: Bryan Miller.

MR. MILLER: Hij, Andrew.

MR. JENNISON: Hi.

MR. MIL